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DEDICATION

 



 



To the brave young Americans who took to the skies 
to protect us all . . . and to my father, Sidney Kozak, 
who watched from below, inspired to keep moving forward.

 



And to Lisa and Claire.





PROLOGUE

“THE FINEST MILITARY STRATEGIST THIS NATION HAS EVER PRODUCED.”

—ROBERT S. MCNAMARA


 


“THE SMARTEST MAN I EVER MET.”

—JUDGE RALPH NUTTER


 


“MY LEAST FAVORITE HUMAN BEING.”

—TED SORENSEN

 



 




HE NEVER FIT THE IMAGE OF THE AMERICAN FLYBOY—DASHING, handsome, and suave. He was, instead, dark, brooding, and forbidding. He rarely smiled, he spoke even less, and when he did, his few words seemed to come out in a snarl. Women seated next to him at dinner said he could sit through the entire meal and not utter a single syllable. Surly, tactless, and with a lifeless, moist cigar constantly locked between his teeth, he was the prototype of the brutal, inhuman militarist. Most people found him frightening.

Yet somehow, Curtis Emerson LeMay, the youngest and longest-serving general in modern American history, rose from obscurity, lacking social graces, old-boy connections, or lineage, to become America’s most innovative and—to this day—controversial military commander.

In 1945, LeMay was a national hero, celebrated in victory parades and on the cover of Time magazine. Twenty years later,  everything had changed. Hollywood and the press vilified him. He was parodied as the mad general in Dr. Strangelove, longing for a nuclear exchange with the Soviets. In a searing essay, journalist I. F. Stone labeled him the “Caveman in a Jet Bomber.”1 At best he was considered a brutish thug; at worst, he was portrayed as demented. Oddly, LeMay never refuted his detractors and even seemed to encourage his negative reputation. “Many people you come up against in the world are all form and no substance,” observed Judge Ralph Nutter, who flew with LeMay throughout the war. “LeMay was the opposite . . . he was all substance and no form.”2


Curtis LeMay’s career spanned an extraordinary time in America. He began flying bi-winged, open cockpit planes in the 1920s, commanded America’s postwar fleet of giant B-52 bombers, and ended his career in an age of intercontinental nuclear missiles. During World War II, LeMay helped turn the bombing effort over Europe from an ineffective and costly failure into a success. He was also the architect behind the firebombing of Tokyo and sixty-four other Japanese cities. But his enemy was not just the Germans and Japanese; he also fought complacent bureaucracy, laziness, and stupidity.

For three years, day and night, LeMay concentrated his very capable intellect on the new science of destroying property and killing people with aerial bombing. In his firebombing campaign over Japan, LeMay ordered the deaths of more civilians than any other military officer in American history—well over 300,000 and perhaps as many as half a million. No one else comes close—not Ulysses S. Grant, not William T. Sherman, and not George S. Patton. Yet in the strange calculus of war, by killing so many human  beings, LeMay saved millions more by making an invasion of Japan unnecessary. Most people would not want to make that kind of decision—killing vast numbers of human beings in order to save even more. It requires someone with a ruthless sense of realism—and if LeMay was anything, he was a realist.

LeMay accepted his life-and-death responsibility as just another part of his job. From a young age, he had shouldered difficult burdens. When he was eight years old, LeMay surpassed his father as the responsible figure in his family; he realized then that if he did not help feed his mother and brothers and sisters, no one else would. This experience shaped his unusually sober character, while his service in the military strengthened his sense of responsibility and duty.

LeMay was also unusually honest. He never shied away from bad news. He understood he was creating a new science and needed all the information. He would not tolerate falsifying data to cover up shortcomings. The stakes in aerial warfare were too important. But his frank nature could make him appear callous and abrupt. “I’ll tell you what war is about,” he once told Sam Cohen, the inventor of the neutron bomb. “You’ve got to kill people and when you kill enough of them, they stop fighting.”3 As Judge Nutter remembered, “Very few people can really tell the truth and most people really don’t want to hear it; he did. So did Sherman. People don’t want to hear that kind of blunt honesty.”4


Added to LeMay’s blunt honesty, brutal sense of realism, and strong devotion to service and country was an odd combination of personality traits: a highly radical mind wrapped up in an extremely conservative personality. He was a mass of inconsistency. While he hated bureaucracy, he chose a career in one of the largest  bureaucracies in the world. He felt at times he was too soft to lead men into combat, yet he was viewed as a very hard man by everyone else. One congressman suggested that he be relieved of his command during the war because he seemed so unfeeling and inhuman. Yet he cared immensely about the men who served under him; he felt no responsibility more keenly than preparing them for battle.

Curtis LeMay had the unusual ability to see all parts of a battle and understand how they fit together. LeMay’s achievements were even more remarkable when you consider that he was working with new and highly complex machines that had never been used before, on a battlefield that was 25,000 feet above the earth.

It should be remembered that generals Robert E. Lee and Ulysses S. Grant fought seventeen battles in each of their careers. LeMay fought one almost every day for three years. And unlike any other general in modern times, he did not send his men out on perilous missions, he led them. On the most dangerous missions, LeMay insisted on flying the lead aircraft in the formation himself, in the first plane the enemy would target. His men followed him into battle. No other general in World War II did this.

LeMay’s involvement in momentous affairs did not end with World War II—indeed, he was a protagonist in some of the greatest foreign policy crises of the middle of the twentieth century. He was the head of the Air Force in Europe at the start of the Berlin Air Lift. In the 1950s, he created the Strategic Air Command, the massive nuclear strike force of B-52s. During the Cuban Missile Crisis in 1962 and the beginning of the Vietnam War, he represented the Air Force on the Joint Chiefs of Staff, advising the president. Finally, in the tumultuous year of 1968, he agreed to be George Wallace’s  running mate in the most divisive and racially charged campaign in recent times.

If a country is lucky, it will produce a Curtis LeMay in times of extreme danger. Nations need men like LeMay when survival is at stake. But once the nation is safe, these men are often rejected because they become walking reminders of events most people would rather forget. As with Curtis LeMay, sometimes these men contribute to their own downfall by continuing to display the belligerence that was necessary during battle but that does not fit in a world at relative peace.

More than sixty years and three generations after the end of World War II, it is very difficult for anyone born twenty, thirty, or forty years after the event to fully comprehend what it was really like to have the entire world at war. Rather than two or three nations fighting against each other, practically every country on the planet, every individual, and every resource was committed to the conflict. It was a war with huge ramifications for the future of mankind.

This country needed a man like Curtis LeMay in World War II and the Cold War. But a generation after the end of those conflicts, it is hard for many people to remember why.





CHAPTER ONE

SOMETHING STRANGE AND WONDERFUL


ON THE COLD AUTUMN MORNING OF NOVEMBER 7, 1910, FOUR-YEAR-OLD Curtis Emerson LeMay looked up from his chores, startled by a sound he had never heard before. Contrary to the law of gravity, a flying, motorized machine with a man looking back down at him was passing overhead. “It came from nowhere,” he wrote in his memoirs, “. . . and I wanted to catch it.”1


LeMay had been in the backyard of his parents’ home in a rundown section of Columbus, Ohio, picking up kindling wood for his mother’s stove, but now he went sprinting after the flying machine. “I just thought that I might be able to grab the airplane and have it for my own, and possess it always.”2


He ran across lawns, streets, and fields, and when he finally lost sight of it, he had no idea how far he had run; it seemed he had been chasing it for minutes, but it took him hours to walk back home. Not being able to grasp the prize was hard for him to accept. “I had lost something unique and in a way Divine,” LeMay  recalled. “It was a god or a spook, or a piece of a god or a spook, and I had never seen one before. I wanted it and hadn’t been able to catch it, and was filled with a sense of exasperation and defeat.”3


LeMay was one of those children who are “born old.” As a child he had a deep sense of responsibility; as an adult he had an abject fear of failure. Both were linked to his father’s bankrupt life. But that afternoon, LeMay—the pragmatist, the realist—behaved as the child he was. He came home in tears, unable to catch the mysterious object. The memory of that plane would deeply influence the course of his life. “He stayed with me and sped beside me many times, later on, when it seemed often that I was trying to catch up with something which moved faster than I could run.”4


The early years of the twentieth century marked a dividing point between America’s frontier and agrarian past and its remarkable technological future. The four-year-old boy, who was very much a part of that past, saw something in that object that sparked his imagination and excited him. This particular machine—a Model B Wright Flyer, flown as a publicity stunt for a local department store—became a fixation for the rest of his life. A century later, LeMay’s younger sister Pat remembered, “Mother always said that was what set him off.”5
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HOME 

As a child, LeMay did a lot of running. He ran away from home at every opportunity. He would stare at the door and then simply bolt out. As an adult, LeMay could not explain this manic behavior, admitting that his life was hard enough and these actions only brought him more problems, along with an inevitable beating. Still, he ran. One possible explanation was his father Erving LeMay’s  mean temper. “Every day, Curtis got a licking from Dad,” remembered his younger sister Pat.6


Curtis was the eldest child. Six more would follow: Lloyd, Valma, Methyl, Charles (who died at birth), Leonard, and Patarica, twenty-two years younger then Curtis. “My sense was that Grandma LeMay was always pregnant,” remarked Curtis LeMay’s daughter, Janie.7


The LeMay family was of French extraction, but had come to America in the eighteenth century by way of Quebec. The LeMays who remained in Canada were Roman Catholics, but somewhere along the way, the LeMays of America, settling in Ohio, became Methodists. Though Curtis’s parents, Arizona and Erving, met in church, he was not raised in a religious household. Years later, one of the men who served under LeMay in Europe admitted, “I don’t remember him ever going to church throughout the entire war. In fact, there must have been a chapel on the base but for the life of me, I don’t remember that either.”8


Arizona Carpenter LeMay, Curtis’s mother, came from English stock. The most unique feature of the Carpenter family was its unusual choice of first names. Arizona was named by her father, who suspected she would never meet another (she did, but only once). In turn, Arizona named her three daughters Methyl, Valma, and Patarica. The boys, starting with Curtis, were given more conventional names.

Arizona had no more than an 8th grade education (Erving, even less), but she had a flair for learning, which was enough to secure a teaching job in a one-room school house as a teenager. Although she weighed no more than 105 pounds and was not much older than some of her students, Arizona reportedly held the class in strict order and was well liked. She was a pretty woman. Her husband, Erving, stood 6’2”, and had a hard face and pronounced ears.  He was strong and had a talent for fixing just about anything—“good with his hands,” as it was called. Curtis inherited that ability from his father, along with a special fascination for gasoline engines, whether they were in a Ford or a B-17.

When Curtis was born on November 15, 1906, in a home on the west side of Columbus, Ohio, his father’s work life had begun to unravel. Erving was employed as a brakeman for the railroad, which was considered a good and stable job in that era. “But something happened,” Curtis wrote later. What happened was never revealed, but Erving would henceforth lose one job after another, dragging his family with him on a long, strange journey. “We lived like nomads,”9 Curtis wrote, recalling his childhood. Erving was a migrant worker taking whatever employment he could find . . . painting, carpentry, or odd jobs. Arizona followed along, bringing their growing number of children and always making the best of increasingly difficult situations. When her husband was out of work for longer periods, she worked as a domestic servant in addition to keeping her own household in order. No adversity seemed too great for Arizona to handle.

By the time Curtis was six, his family had lived in five different homes. This meant new friends and later, new schools and schoolyards. “I’d just get set at one school in Columbus—say, when we lived on Dana Avenue or perhaps on Guildford—and then, bang, we’d have to move out of town.”10


No doubt some of it was due to poverty, but some indefinable quality lacking in Erving’s character was also responsible for Curtis LeMay’s childhood instability. The economy of Ohio and the rest of the country was booming right up and through the First World War. Immigrants with no English skills were walking off  boats and finding jobs. The labor pool was simply not large enough to feed the demands of a country that was growing exponentially.

Later in his life, Curtis described his father as a “dreamer,” never satisfied and always wanting to move on to something else. To compensate, Curtis would become the ultimate pragmatist, working in just one occupation for his entire life. To Erving’s credit, he always looked for work, no matter how menial, and deposited all of his meager earnings not at the local tavern, but with his wife. By all accounts, Erving and Arizona had a stable marriage. But there was a mean side to Erving.

“I was scared to death of my Dad,” Pat remembers. “He was a very strict disciplinarian, like Curtis. Maybe they were too much alike.”11 She remembers having more fun and laughing a lot with her other two brothers, but not with Curtis.

Years later, when Erving was elderly, the nursing home where he lived asked his family to remove him because he was causing too many problems for everyone around him. “When he died,” remarked Janie LeMay Lodge, “we hoped that Grandma LeMay could start to have some fun.”12


Over the years, it was Arizona who somehow kept her growing family fed. All the LeMay children looked to her as the role model for self-sufficiency, moral strength, and grit. She instilled a strong sense of honesty, discipline, and integrity. If they were poor, none of the children ever saw themselves that way—nobody else they encountered in the places they lived was any different. In fact, some people had much less. Hard work was a basic part of life.

Even when Erving tried to play the role of responsible father, he managed to do it all wrong. Once he made a deal with his son that he would match the money Curtis needed to buy a new bike he  had seen in a shop window. However, one day, on impulse, Erving bought a different bike than the one Curtis wanted—and ended up taking it for his own use. Later, when Curtis desperately longed for his own rifle, Erving went out and bought an expensive Winchester 95. “I just about fainted when I saw it,” Curtis later wrote. But the gun, a 30-caliber rifle, was much too powerful for the young boy and he could not use it. “I would never say that Pop was the most practical man on earth,”13 Curtis recalled years later. “I felt he was—not exactly on the shiftless side [since] he was working all the time—but he was jumping around too much.”14
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MONTANA 

The great adventure of Curtis LeMay’s youth came in 1914 when he was eight years old. “Pop had lost his construction job and we were in a pretty sorry situation at home.”15 Erving packed up his family and headed west based entirely on a brother-in-law’s comment that jobs could be found in Montana. Jobs were just as plentiful and a lot closer in Chicago, Cleveland, or even in Columbus where they were living. But something about Montana caught Erving LeMay’s imagination and the family followed.

Curtis remembered the train trip as a mosaic of “crowded straw suitcases, squashed and wrinkled pillows, lunches packed in shoe boxes with as much food as possible taken from home to start with and as little as possible to be purchased along the way.”16 That memory also included peanut shells on the floor, wailing babies, a car with hard seats that was either too hot or too cold, and a foul smelling toilet. There was also the “news-butcher” with a wonderful basket of candies that “the LeMay children could only dream about.”17


The family finally arrived in Montana to confront cold the likes of which they had never experienced. A high, dry cold, LeMay remembered years later, that “seemed to take your breath after you bit into it for a while.” They moved into a tenement house, Erving got a job, and then they moved again when “Pop got fired or quit.”18 Erving next found work as caretaker for an isolated sportsman’s club. Just getting to the club, located on a chain of lakes called the Nez Perce, was an adventure. Arizona and Erving put all their belongings on an open horse-drawn wagon, bundled up the children in blankets, and set out for the camp. The trip took them south of Butte City in a driving snowstorm. The caretaker’s cabin was normally for summer use only. Somehow, Arizona made it a home where they sheltered themselves from the fierce winter cold.

In this setting, where the nearest neighbor was twenty-five miles away, Curtis fell in love with the outdoors. He saw bald eagles and hawks for the first time, and he could fish to his heart’s content. His father taught him how to shoot and handle a gun. Erving did not quite understand how to maintain the hatchery at the club, but his son seemed to grasp the concept and helped move the fish into the various pools as they grew.

During that first winter when there was barely enough food to feed the family, it was Curtis who discovered that if he took a scrap of meat, put it on a hook, and went down to the lake to a spot where a flume kept the water from freezing, he could catch huge trout. Sometimes it was difficult for the boy to drag the large fish through the snow back up to the house. He would come into the cabin, drop the prize in his mother’s sink, and wait just long enough to warm up before he went back out to do it all over again. It never dawned on Erving to even get up. “My father was perfectly willing to sit with his socked feet up against the shiny stove fender  while the frost snapped and crackled outside.” When Curtis came in with the fish, his father simply shifted his feet on the wood-burning stove to let him pass. “The larder was a vague mystery, which Pop didn’t bother to penetrate. He figured that somehow, from somewhere, Mom would be able to conjure up a meal out of thin air. Often he was right.”19 At this very early point in his life, Curtis surpassed his father as the responsible male figure in the LeMay family. He was eight years old.

One cold winter contending with the isolation of the camp was enough for Erving. Now it was California that beckoned. A letter from one of his brothers who lived in the Bay area promised help finding a job.

In the early part of the twentieth century, California was a cauldron of opportunity for anyone with drive and imagination. To the south, the movie industry was just beginning to create itself in Los Angeles. The land was fertile in the central valley and agriculture was booming. Factories were coming to the state and San Francisco was its economic center. But for Erving LeMay, none of this mattered. As soon as the family arrived, they discovered that his brother who promised to find him a job had enlisted in the Army and was long gone. Once again, Erving put his family in a tenement apartment in Emeryville and found menial work, this time in a cannery.

California was a magical place for Curtis, one that he would return to throughout his life. The stop in Emeryville lasted just a year and the LeMay family, caught between Erving’s whims and his constant failures, soon headed back East again. This time it was New Brighton, Pennsylvania, northwest of Pittsburgh that beckoned with the promise of a mill job. But within a year, the family was back in Columbus, having come full circle on their trek.
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HIGH SCHOOL AND COLLEGE 

For the first time in Curtis’s life, his family would stay in one place; a small three-bedroom house at 511 Welch Avenue in Columbus. Young Curtis took advantage of this stability by building a business. In Emeryville, he shot sparrows (with a borrowed .22 BB gun) for an old woman whose cat only ate sparrows. She paid him five cents a bird. In New Brighton, he had taken on a paper route. Now, at the age of fourteen, he started a newspaper distribution business. Curtis was not merely enterprising; he felt a responsibility to earn money for the family. Responsibility always trumped joy: the joy he could have had playing sports or loafing with his friends. Still, resentment remained. He longed to play football with the other boys, but he had to collect those newspapers every day.

The realities of the LeMay family’s poverty, Curtis’s extremely sober temperament, and his unreliable father combined to create an abnormal childhood. Curtis’s unusual sense of responsibility squelched any chance of happiness. His mother never complained about the work she had to do to help support the family; he followed her lead. He worked hard at his studies. He worked hard after school. Fun was simply a luxury he would have to pass up. From an early age, everything he did was in pursuit of earning money or self-improvement. The extra time he had—and there was little—was spent at the library where he read biographies, history, and travel books, which took him away to different times and places.

At South High School in Columbus, Curtis did allow himself one extravagance in the form of a crystal set,20 a homemade radio receiver he made with materials he purchased. He was fascinated with radio, a relatively new invention, and stayed up late at night  with earphones on, twisting the dial through the static until a human voice came through, speaking live from as far away as Dayton or Cincinnati. “Those were the big things you really worked for,”21 he remembered. During his high school years, radio was his one distraction. Any other time outside of school was spent working or at the library. As for dating—it was too great an extravagance. LeMay explained much later, “The girl stuff cost money—sodas, sandwiches and all, and I thought my personal cash would be better expended in some other direction.”22


LeMay admitted that he missed out on a lot but, again, it never came out as a complaint. Whining would have been against his nature. However, in a rare moment of introspection, he admitted in his memoirs that “there may have been nights when I looked up into the darkness and held to the opinion that I was carrying a load which not many other people were carrying.”23 He was usually just too tired to think about it. He also wondered, years later, why no one, neither his parents nor his teachers, ever offered him any advice, direction, or guidance. He was always left to figure things out on his own, to go his own direction. This was a challenge he would encounter throughout his life, handling it in the most responsible way: with hard work.

He did keep one dream in his imagination: flying. When he was sixteen years old, Curtis pooled some money with a friend and went to Norton Field just outside Columbus where a barnstorming pilot (who made his living giving demonstrations of the still-novel ability to fly from town to town) had landed. “Five dollars for five minutes,” the pilot told them. He normally took one passenger, but business was slow that day, and the two boys talked him into letting them share the front seat. That first experience  amazed the young Curtis: the immediate sensation of lightness on takeoff, the view of the ground from the sky—familiar sights recreated on a miniature scale. He told himself that someday he would be a pilot and he would “fly wherever I please, stay as long as I want to, and just have fun.”24 However, much later, after his retirement and after more than thirty years flying countless planes, he admitted that he never had the chance for that “joyride.” Not even once. Work always came first.
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OHIO STATE 

It was the desire to fly that motivated LeMay to go on to college. He knew the only opportunity for him to become a pilot was with the military. A college degree would give him a leg up on other candidates competing for the very limited slots in the Army Air Corps. Although he dreamed of attending West Point, he was too intimidated to seek the nomination by a congressman that every applicant needs.

In the fall of 1924, Curtis LeMay enrolled at Ohio State, becoming the first member of his family to go to college. His goal was a degree in civil engineering, so he joined an engineering fraternity and enlisted in the ROTC program.

During his first term, Curtis got a job at the Buckeye Steel Casting Company. He was hired at the amazing salary of thirty-five dollars a week by a manager who had also worked his way through school and was sympathetic to the hard-working young man. In 1928, when food cost a dollar a day and rent for a good size dwelling was seventy-five dollars a month, an entire family could live well on thirty-five dollars a week. But there was a down side.  The job required six days a week, starting at five in the afternoon and finishing at two or three in the morning. The work was incredibly demanding—setting cores in the molds for truck and railroad car frames for nine hours every night. Though it was dirty and noisy, LeMay liked it.25


LeMay was going to bed at three in the morning six nights a week, but he still had to get up early for classes. He also found time during the day to study and drill with his ROTC unit. But he was not getting enough sleep and as hard as he tried, he could not stay awake during his 9:00 a.m. course. “Railroad Curves” was taught by Professor Wall, and LeMay failed it two semesters in a row. Wall was unsympathetic. Still, LeMay was practical. He recognized that if he slept through that one class, he would be able to stay up for the others. Early on, Curtis LeMay absorbed a valuable lesson—sometimes, in order to achieve a greater goal, sacrifices had to be made.

There was one bright spot in this arrangement. In order to get to work, LeMay needed a car. He and a friend put down $12.50 a piece for a 1918 Ford Model T. His “partner” used it during the days and Sundays, and LeMay had it from the late afternoon until morning. LeMay’s mechanical ability kept the old car running throughout most of his time at Ohio State.

He continued to live with his family on Welch Avenue. A good part of his earnings went to the family, which was a substantial help to his parents. When Erving left town for work, he took Arizona with him and left Curtis in charge of his younger siblings. It was an arrangement that seemed to be an improvement for his siblings. “Dad was gone so much,” his sister Methyl would remember, “and never took that much interest in what we were doing, as  far as school was concerned. But Curtis would say, ‘Let me see your grade card.’ We toed the mark when he was the boss.” The three girls and Leonard preferred it when their older brother looked after them. “He was a very serious person,” Leonard remembered. “He had a drawing board set up in the living room. He was studying much of the time. He was very dedicated. Knew what he wanted to do.”26
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THE OBSESSION 

In the spring of LeMay’s senior year, a group of Army flyers came through Columbus on their way east. Word would always spread when Air Corps planes were “visiting,” and people would come out to see them. It was a major event. A crowd was already waiting when the olive drab planes touched down in a pasture at the edge of town. LeMay was not about to miss the opportunity and joined his fellow ROTC candidates at the field. His adulation for the pilots was nothing short of hero worship. “We tried not to get in their way too much. There were just about a million questions I wanted to ask any of those intent, serious-faced young men, whenever one walked near. Yet I was tongue-tied.”

The college boys “watched every movement they made” and copied every gesture. LeMay stayed very late watching them, until the flyers bedded down for the night under their planes—such were the accommodations available to flight officers in the Army Air Corps in those years. That hardly mattered. Everything they did, even the slightest mannerism, impressed LeMay. He was back again early the next morning to watch the planes take off. If he could have, he would have spent the night in the open field just to  be close to them. “Every time I closed my eyes for a long while afterward all I could see were leather flying helmets and goggles; all I could hear was the sound of those Liberty engines.”27


By 1928, during his fourth year of college, the rest of the country caught up with LeMay’s flying obsession. Lindbergh had just made his historic flight to Paris the year before. LeMay knew the odds against his getting into the cadet program were increasing. In that year alone, three thousand young men applied for one hundred openings in the Army Air Corps. Of those, only twenty-five would make it through flight school and emerge as pilots in the U.S. Army. Twenty-five out of three thousand.

Curtis LeMay was now twenty-one. He needed less than a quarter’s credits for an engineering degree. He had a reserve commission from ROTC and his compulsion to fly overshadowed everything else. Although LeMay lacked the credits to graduate in June of 1928 due to failing his early morning Railroad Curves class, he was still an ROTC honor graduate, and he heard that honor graduates might have a leg up in the competition for those 100 spots.

That spring, as LeMay tried to figure out how to accomplish his dream, he showed a surprising talent for maneuvering within a large organization. There was absolutely nothing in his background that would have given him this understanding. He had no mentor to guide him. He certainly did not learn it from his father. However, just as a chess master can see an entire board with its infinite possibilities, LeMay could look at a vast bureaucracy and intuitively understand how all of its parts fit together. Like his gift of understanding the components of an engine, along with his intense focus on achieving success in every problem, it would stand him in good stead later in his career.

LeMay began the process of getting into the Air Corps by breaking down the problem. First, he sought information from anyone with knowledge about the application process. LeMay discovered that candidates were ranked according to their military backgrounds with West Point graduates at the top. But he also learned there were loopholes which, although Byzantine, could help him reach his goal. While his ROTC commission gave him a ranking of seventh in the list of applicants for flying school, in a strange twist of the military bureaucracy, he could jump all the way to the number two position if he was a member of the National Guard. Upon learning this, he immediately went downtown to the state building across the street from the Capitol. There he found an old Brigadier-General by the name of Bush, the head of Ohio’s National Guard, sitting behind his desk. LeMay had met the General briefly, along with the rest of his class, at an ROTC social event the year before. To the 21-year-old LeMay, the general sitting at his roll-top desk seemed “as elderly as God, and just about as militarily sophisticated as Napoleon.”

LeMay introduced himself and told General Bush he wanted to enlist in the National Guard right away. “Why all the eagerness?” asked General Bush. LeMay decided just to tell the truth. He explained that the Guard had a priority on the list for flight school, and that was all he wanted. The General took a liking to the forthright young man. Bush acknowledged that people walking into his office eager to enlist were few and far between. He gauged LeMay with some amusement. He needed an ammunition officer. This young man seemed like he could handle the job.

“There was now a kind of mist in front of my eyes,” LeMay recounted years later in his memoirs, “but through that mist I could see General Bush slowly pulling down the top of his old-fashioned  desk. I remember following the sound as the little round pieces went smoothly down through the twin, curved grooves. He reached for his World War campaign hat and gestured to me, ‘Come on.’”28


The General took LeMay across the street to the State House and commissioned him as a Second Lieutenant in the Field Artillery of the Ohio National Guard, setting off a ricochet of red tape. LeMay first had to resign his commission in the Reserve in order to take the Guard commission. Then he waited.

Spring turned to summer. LeMay continued to work at the Buckeye foundry. He fulfilled his duties with the Guard once a week. And he waited at the mailbox every day in hopes of receiving an acceptance to Cadet School. But nothing arrived. By September 1928, LeMay still had not heard whether his application to the program had been accepted. He had those last credits to complete at Ohio State, and the deadline for registration was approaching, requiring him to make a decision. Consequently, he invested a considerable sum of money and sent a long telegram to the War Department in Washington explaining his dilemma and why he needed to know where he stood. Luckily, the telegram was not filed somewhere or lost in a pile of letters on some low-ranking officer’s desk. The response soon arrived. It read simply: “This authorizes you to enlist as a flying cadet at the nearest Army station.”

LeMay remembered the moment: “Won’t say that I was trembling all over, but I was trembling inside.” He immediately headed to Fort Hayes in Columbus—the closest regular Army base. He showed the recruiting sergeant the telegram and told him that he wanted to enlist as a “flying cadet”. . . a term the sergeant had never heard. The sergeant was only too happy to comply. “A college boy was a real Sergeant York in comparison with the run-of-the-mill  volunteer recruits they were getting in those days. Average recruits were really something: the deadbeats on the street, a lot of poolroom drunks . . . once in a while some fairly decent characters—from the country, usually—farm boys who were eager to get away from the binders and hay-rakes.”29


But once LeMay had been inducted, the sergeant wanted him in the Army as a private and was all set to send him on to basic training. LeMay protested, again waving the telegram. The sergeant went to his lieutenant who went to his captain, who finally resolved the issue. LeMay then helped his ROTC buddy, Francis Griswold, who was also waiting to hear from Washington, through the process he had followed. Before long, both LeMay and Griswold were ordered to report to March Field in Riverside, California for the November class.

Amelia Earhart had become the first woman to cross the Atlantic just four months earlier, only increasing the public’s fascination with aviation and its young, attractive heroes. The country was entering its last year of prosperity for a long time to come. The national election was just days ahead in which Herbert Hoover would handily defeat Al Smith. And a young and wealthy Franklin Roosevelt, who nominated Smith at the Democratic Convention that summer, would become the governor of New York.

Curtis LeMay’s great adventure was about to begin as well. He packed the few things he owned and said goodbye to his family. Near the end of October 1928, LeMay headed west for the second time in his life. Only this time, the circumstances were considerably different. LeMay and Griswold boarded the train at the Union and Pacific Station in downtown Columbus. The Army had given them a travel allowance that was just enough for a single upper  berth. They managed to cajole the conductor into giving them a second berth, but it hardly mattered—the two young men were too excited to sleep. They were hardly fliers. They both knew that only 25 percent of the class would advance to the Air Corps. But LeMay was still able to comprehend the magic of that moment in time. “We are on a black sooty passenger train which ploughs its way toward Chicago in the nighttime, and bangs across switches, and fills the Pullmans with a bitter smell of coal smoke. And we are two kids, jolting along in our respective upper berths, clinging instinctively to the bed-clothes when the train swerves on a fast curve.”30


He would look back on that trip through the autumn countryside as a special demarcation in his life: “No crystal ball was included in my meager luggage, so I didn’t have any glimpses of the future . . . and Griswold and myself [were] studying and flying and yakking, and working our way into that same future. It was all ahead of us, but we didn’t know.”31






CHAPTER TWO

FLIGHT


AS THE TRAIN ROLLED AWAY, LEAVING THE SMALL GROUP OF young men who had joined Curtis and Griswold along the way standing on the platform at 5:30 a.m., there was not a living soul to be seen. They wandered through Riverside’s tiny downtown, carrying their luggage, until they finally stopped at the post office—the only building with an electric light on. They chose Griswold to make the nickel phone call to March Field where he was able to reach the officer of the day. Griswold explained who he was, why he was calling, and where he was standing.

“That’s fine,” the officer told him, “our mail truck will be in there at nine-thirty. After he gets loaded, you get on the mail truck and come out.”1 The eight prospective flyers found a diner where they could get some coffee and eventually, as promised, the truck rolled in. They threw their gear and themselves unceremoniously  on top of the mailbags and were on their way in their first taste of the world of the Air Corps.
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HISTORY 

The military was interested in the possibilities created by flight from its earliest beginnings. After the Wrights’ historic first flight at Kitty Hawk, the U.S. Army Signal Corps hired them to design a plane and teach some of its officers how to fly. The partnership had a rough start. In his very first demonstration for the Army before a large crowd at Fort Myer, Virginia in 1908, Orville Wright’s plane crashed. Lieutenant Thomas Selfridge flew along with Wright as an observer. On that day, Selfridge, who graduated from West Point in 1903 along with Douglas MacArthur, had the distinction of becoming the first passenger ever killed in a plane crash. Orville Wright was hospitalized for months with four broken ribs and a fractured leg.

Although manned flight began in the United States, by World War I the Europeans had surpassed the Americans in plane design and pilot training. After the United States entered the war in 1917, the Army increased the numbers of its planes and pilots by the thousands, but it still lagged far behind the French, English, and Germans, something a brash, overconfident Billy Mitchell, who led the American air force in France, sought to change.

After the war, a huge national debate began, pitting the visionaries of air power like Mitchell against the established institutions of the Army and Navy. While the branches of the military appeared to be struggling over theory—whether flight would be a legitimate part of the future of warfare—in reality, they were fighting over  money from Congress. Early twentieth-century Washington was very reluctant to spend tax dollars on its armed forces and had, in fact, drawn down their wartime force to 22 aero squadrons from a high of 185.2 The country had no plans of ever going to war again—and the oceans were considered sufficient protection from any aggressors.

But there were a few men in addition to Billy Mitchell who foresaw the day when those oceans would no longer provide an adequate buffer and when large, multi-engine airplanes could span them. Henry “Hap” Arnold and Carl “Tooey” Spaatz served with Mitchell in the war and shared his belief that fighting would be radically altered by the airplane, breaking the bloody stalemate of trench warfare that killed millions of soldiers, and smashing not just armies but the enemy’s ability to produce weapons far behind the front lines. What that meant in terms of civilian casualties was still undefined. But in the 1920s, the War Department could not even envision another war, nor did it understand how to effectively use this section of the Army. All Washington seemed to understand was that airplanes required huge amounts of money it was unwilling to spend for something that remained more theory than fact.

In 1921, in a highly publicized demonstration designed to prove naval vessels’ new vulnerability, a squadron of Mitchell’s planes bombed and sank ships taken from Germany after World War I—a surplus German destroyer, a light cruiser, and the battleship Ost-friesland . But even though hundreds of people watched Mitchell’s bombers sink the ships off the Virginia coast, Mitchell failed to convince the War Department and Congress of the growing strength of air power and the need for an air force. A new day had dawned, but Washington did not see it. However, the implications  of the exercise were not lost on one observer. Captain Osami Nagano of the Japanese Navy, in attendance as a diplomatic observer, carefully watched the exercise, grasped its implications, and twenty years later helped plan the defining act of air power over naval vessels in the attacks on Pearl Harbor.
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DODOS 

When the eight new cadets arrived at March Field on top of the mail truck, they were first sent to the supply depot to draw equipment. At the same time, on the other side of the room, the class that had just graduated was in the process of turning in their things. These select few, now aviators, were moving on to Kelly Field in Texas for advanced training. What impressed LeMay more than anything that day was an argument he witnessed between one of the supply sergeants and a graduate who was short one pair of coveralls. The young pilot explained to the sergeant, or tried to explain, that he had loaned his coveralls to another cadet on the same day the unlucky cadet was killed in a crash. He said he had not wanted the coveralls, which were on the mangled and bloody body of the dead cadet, and he figured no one else would. The sergeant was unmoved. The cadet was given a set of coveralls and had to turn in a set of coveralls. End of discussion. LeMay realized the 25 percent pass rate was not the only obstacle facing these green recruits. Despite the stark lesson, whether it was the invulnerability of youth or his own personality, LeMay feared washing out much more than death.

For the next four months, these cadets would be known as dodos—ungainly birds, unable to fly, that are easily killed. Until  they washed out, were killed, or successfully moved on to Kelly Field, the dodos would spend their time in canvas tents that housed them due to a shortage of barracks. The tents were riddled with holes from flying sparks released by wood stoves that barely worked. Arriving in November, this particular class would be at March Field during the four coldest months of the year.

The first month consisted of ground school and physical training. This was especially difficult for the cadets because they were all eager to fly, and it did not help to constantly march past a row of shining white and gold PT-3s—the bi-wing trainers that were used during World War I, and became the main tool for flight instruction. Instead of flying that first month, LeMay and the others learned about engines, fuel systems, and aerodynamics. “[It] was just about the longest month I ever spent in my life,”3 LeMay would remember.

LeMay also took note of one particular aspect of life at March Field—the food, which was not very good. Throughout his career and his memoirs, food seemed to play an important role. That may have been due to the fact that during his childhood, it was not always certain that there would be enough to feed the family. Or it could have been as simple as the fact that the man liked to eat. “He fought a weight problem his whole life,” one aide would remember years later.4


The class was finally divided up, and cadets were assigned to a flight instructor in groups of five. Unfortunately for LeMay and everyone else in his small group, he drew Peewee Wheeler. Wheeler was not mean, ill-tempered, or even difficult. He was a nice man and a great pilot, but he lacked any ability to teach. LeMay saw this right away, but there was nothing he could do  about it. For LeMay, passing on information—teaching others—was effortless. So he was doubly frustrated to come up against someone with no such ability. “It is a sad fact that many people in this life are able to exhibit particular skills—to excel in such skills sometimes to a degree almost beyond belief—and yet remain unable to communicate their understandings and procedures to another,” he reflected later in his life.5 LeMay considered asking for a different instructor, especially after the other four cadets in his group quickly washed out, but he was afraid it would sound like whining. Instead, he made a calculated decision to take his chances with Wheeler and hoped he could glean enough information to pass his flight tests. LeMay had a certain confidence in his ability to fly and grasp the basics on his own.

At various levels during those weeks, the instructors would send their trainees on to “check pilots.” It was the check pilot who would determine whether the cadet would go on to the next level or wash out. For his final test, LeMay’s bad luck continued—he drew Red MacKinnon, rumored to be the toughest of all the check pilots. Red was a legend at March Field.

The morning of the final test, LeMay got into the bi-plane, taking the seat directly in front of MacKinnon. The instructor, who offered no chit-chat, took the controls at takeoff. Soon he brought the plane down near the ground and told LeMay to “take over.” As soon as LeMay took control of the plane, MacKinnon cut the power to the engine. LeMay looked for an open field, banked the plane to the right and headed towards it. This sent the instructor into a tirade: “God damn it, that’s all wrong! Give it to me.”6 After a while, he gave the controls back to LeMay. Again he cut the throttle, and LeMay responded as he had before. It appeared to LeMay  that MacKinnon might fly right out of the plane in midair, he was so angry.

If a pilot loses his engine at low altitude, he should not bank the plane as LeMay had done, for fear of stalling—losing airspeed—and crashing. Instead, he should keep going straight ahead and hope to find a safe area for landing. But the decision also depends on the plane and the speed it is going when the engines quit, and in both cases, LeMay quickly deduced that they could make the turn. The fact that he was right was irrelevant, though. MacKinnon was interested in the principle. Unfortunately, Peewee had never passed this information on to LeMay.

Next, MacKinnon ordered LeMay to perform a snap roll to the right, a kind of acrobatic maneuver, which he negotiated beautifully. MacKinnon asked for another one, and again LeMay was flawless. Then MacKinnon told him to do a snap roll to the left. Here LeMay ran into another huge problem: he could not do snap rolls to the left. He had tried over and over but just could not master it. When he asked Peewee Wheeler for help, all he got back was, “You just do it a little this way and a little that way.” MacKinnon waited and finally yelled: “Go head. Proceed, proceed!” LeMay told him he could not do it. Seemingly disgusted, MacKinnon told him to land the plane. And even here, LeMay’s bad luck continued. A strong wind picked up from the desert as he was coming in and he landed long. “Altogether, it wasn’t one of my better days, shall we say,” LeMay remembered. “And I knew it.”7


As he sat there in the cockpit after the plane came to a complete stop, LeMay realized that this was it. He had washed out. His career as an officer in the Army Air Corps was over. Everything he wanted hinged on a fateful check mark in a box on an obscure  piece of paper. Pass or fail—it was that simple. MacKinnon and LeMay got out of the cockpit and stood there next to the plane. LeMay, unable to breathe, looked at the instructor as he went over his list. MacKinnon just shook his head, not helping LeMay’s intake of oxygen.

“Well, son.” He said. “By Jesus Christ, I don’t know whether to wash you out, or give you a chance and send you on.” He paused for the longest moment of Curtis LeMay’s young life. And then he broke the interminable silence. “I guess,” said MacKinnon slowly, “that I will send you on, after all. But I’ll keep my eye on you and see how you do.”8


In spite of LeMay’s mistakes that day, there was something in him that MacKinnon saw—a natural ability, even talent, as a pilot. Years later, LeMay was surprised when one of his early instructors told him that he had only ever had one other student he considered as gifted.9 Standing next to the plane with Red MacKinnon, he slowly let the reality sink in that he would be one of the 25 percent to advance.

In advanced training at Kelly Field in Texas, LeMay flew the latest, state-of-the-art planes—de Havillands and O-2s. The de Havillands were the bi-plane fighters used in World War I. The O-2 was the first airplane to have a tail-wheel at the back of the plane instead of a skid (a piece of metal that resembled a small runner on a sleigh). Except for a few gauges, there was nothing more complex in the cockpit than a stabilizer, a stick, a rudder, a throttle, and a spark control. There was not even a brake for landings.

LeMay quickly realized just how bad an instructor Peewee Wheeler really was when he encountered his next instructor. “In two weeks, I learned more from Joe Dawson than I had all the rest  of the time at March,”10 LeMay remembered. He became the first in his class to check off (qualify to fly) on the DH and again first on the O-2. But LeMay believed none of this was due to any natural gift. LeMay worked at it, day and night. Some of the cadets would go off on joy rides and try to impress girls if they had a night off. LeMay stuck to his training and followed orders, manifesting his mother’s influence and his own inner discipline.

But at Kelly, LeMay allowed himself to relax a bit. Things were going well. He had a great instructor, he was flying all the time, and a certain amount of confidence and even pride began to seep into his personality—but only up to a point. He began allowing himself the rare treat of going to a movie, but with another cadet as his companion rather than a date. Though he was still always watching his money, it was not the only reason. He was shy, especially with girls.

Curtis graduated from advanced flight school on October 12, 1929, one week before the stock market crash that began the Great Depression. At the time, the Air Corps was divided into four divisions—Pursuit, Observation, Attack, and Bombardment. LeMay signed up for Pursuit, the predecessor to modern-day fighter pilot training. He was assigned to the Twenty-seventh Pursuit Squadron of the First Pursuit Group at Selfridge Field in Michigan. At Selfridge, the new pilots were divided into three squadrons of eighteen planes each, but there were not quite enough planes to go around. They practiced flying in formations, and in the summer they would fly to Michigan’s Upper Peninsula for a week, where they would practice shooting machine guns with live ammunition—their only use of real ammunition in the entire year—and dropping water-filled bombs.

The majority of their time was occupied in a public relations campaign designed to sell the American public on aviation. They would fly at air shows and other public events—even at the opening of new airports. In spite of the Depression that had taken hold of the country, municipal airports were opening up at a brisk rate in cities and towns across the United States in the 1930s. Industry had practically come to a halt in America, but aviation still held financial promise.

Like the population at large, the military was at ease regarding external threats in those days. “There was no war in the offing,” LeMay recalled later. “Sure, we work[ed], but nobody work[ed] very hard. There [was] no sense of urgency.”11


Ironically, during the Depression, life was better for Second Lieutenant Curtis LeMay than it had ever been. With a base salary of $125 plus flight pay along with other allowances, he was earning around $250 a month. This was a very good salary for a single man in 1930. He still sent money home to help his family—something he would continue to do throughout his career—but he had the ability to save money for the first time.
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HELEN 

Advancing in the military prior to World War II was next to impossible. Promotions were based on a system of seniority, not merit. Additionally, slots were limited; a senior officer had to leave the service or die before someone below could move up a rank. LeMay was ambitious and strategic as he sized up his chances in the stagnant hierarchy. He realized that officers with college degrees had a better chance of advancing to those limited positions, yet he was still short those few credits at Ohio State. Most of the flyers around him already had degrees, and the West Point cadets had a leg up on the rest.

There were programs in place that allowed officers to take college credits, but his applications were rejected, so he had to find another way. By diligently asking around, he discovered he could take a temporary transfer down to Norton Field in Columbus if there was an opening. Once there, he could finish his credits at Ohio State on the other side of town. Norton was much smaller than Selfridge—it had only one officer and three sergeants. They were there to supervise civilian mechanics who, in turn, maintained six airplanes for reserve officers in the area. This “Detached Service” lasted exactly five months and twenty-nine days. If he timed it just right, he would have just enough time to earn the credits he needed. He approached his senior officer, Major Brett, and presented him with his proposal. Brett agreed, and LeMay reported for duty at Norton Field on October 1, 1931. LeMay was back at Ohio State and the Air Corps was happy to have an experienced flight officer assist the captain at Norton. Everyone, especially LeMay, was pleased with the plan.

The person who motivated LeMay to do this was not a military friend or a commanding officer, and certainly not a member of his family. This guidance came from an unlikely source—a woman.

Herb Tellman, one of LeMay’s classmates from Kelly Field, also at Selfridge in the First Pursuit Group, was engaged to a girl at the University of Michigan, and he would often fly down to Ann Arbor to visit her on weekends. Tellman kept trying to get LeMay to come with him to meet her friends. LeMay’s general perception that he was never quite up-to-snuff socially, combined with  shyness and low self-esteem, meant that he was more than a little behind on the “girl front,” as he called it. Until now, he had used his difficult financial situation as an excuse. But by 1931, twenty-four years old and an established pilot with improved finances, his level of confidence began to change. Finally, LeMay surprised Tellman and took him up on his offer. The two young men, along with another pilot named Vaupre, put on their goggles and leather helmets one Saturday afternoon and flew their bi-planes down to Ann Arbor. LeMay and Vaupre were told about two girls who lived in the same dormitory with Tellman’s fianceé, but neither pilot knew which girl would be assigned to whom. As the story goes, the airmen walked across the lawn of Mosher Hall with the girls watching from a window. One of them, Helen Maitland, sized up the two uniformed candidates and announced: “I think I’ll take the fat one.”12 With that, the most important and positive relationship in Curtis LeMay’s life began.

Helen Maitland’s background could not have been more different than LeMay’s. Although they were both from Ohio, Helen’s father, Jesse Maitland, was a successful corporate attorney in Cleveland and a direct descendent of Mary Queen of Scots. Helen had one sister, and the two Maitland girls grew up in one home their entire lives—a large colonial in Cleveland Heights. She was encouraged to go to college, and her parents hoped she would go on to medical school. Instead, she had graduated from Western Reserve with a nursing degree and attended Ann Arbor for postgraduate work.

LeMay admitted to being attracted to her “right from the start.” Helen was ebullient—“bubbling effusion,” he called it. It was not unusual for LeMay to be in the company of someone who spoke  more than he did. But the secret to Helen’s success and her tremendous influence on LeMay was that, right from the start, she put him at ease. And this allowed him to poke out of his armored shell. After dinner, when the two were alone, it was Curtis who began to talk. “Helen inspired in me a desire to try and emulate her frankness of conversation, her honesty of recollection.”13 He found himself telling her an embarrassing story of trying to escape from a one-room schoolhouse when he was a little boy and getting paddled by the teacher.

Instead of just listening, Helen probed further, asking him why he was telling her this story. Letting his guard down even further, LeMay said he was not quite sure, except that perhaps he found himself in the same situation with the Army right now—he wanted to finish his degree and they wanted officers with college degrees, but “it seems I am being punished for some sort of infant misdeed.” 14 With almost motherly advice, Helen looked at him in all seriousness. “Then it’s up to you,” she told him. “You’ve got to use your best resources, whatever they are. Figure out a way.”15 Completely inspired by Helen Maitland, LeMay came up with the plan that brought him back to Columbus and college the following autumn.

It was a very different Curtis LeMay who returned to Ohio State University in the fall of 1931. He was only required to be at Norton Field in the afternoons and weekends, when Reserve pilots flew. That left a generous amount of free time during the week to attend his classes. With his salary and no expenses other than school, rent (which was minimal), and food (extremely low because of deflation caused by the Depression), his situation was much better than his earlier college experience. “For the first time  in my life I seemed to know what it was like to be young and alive, to be intent, and yet at the same time not self-disciplined to the point of crucifixion.”16 The man finally allowed himself to have a little fun.

Even the military work was relaxed. LeMay went to classes in the morning and then changed into his uniform and went over to Norton. Sometimes there would not be enough time to change so he wore his uniform to school. For his thesis, he borrowed a camera from Wright Field and used a plane from Norton to create an aerial mapping sequence of the area. The entire project gave LeMay a better understanding of aerial reconnaissance, which, like almost everything else related to flying in 1931, was completely new.

Although LeMay stayed in touch with Helen Maitland up in Ann Arbor and invited her down to Columbus for the big events, he also dated other girls. But years later, in an insight that seemed to fit his personality, LeMay wrote that the relationship with Helen went beyond a physical attraction. “I stood a little in awe of her. She seemed more advanced as a person than I.”17 Perhaps more telling was his admission that he was excited every time she came down to Columbus. But marriage remained a long way off in his thoughts.

Not wishing to overextend his stay in Ohio beyond the five months and twenty-nine days allotted to him through detached service, LeMay was permitted to take his exams early and get back to Selfridge. His diploma arrived by mail at the end of March 1932. The rest of that year was a continuation of the year before; flying exercises interspersed with classes and drills and seeing Helen whenever possible. But now there was one less worry—he was a college graduate.
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CCC 

In 1933, Franklin Delano Roosevelt became the country’s thirty-second president. That same year, Adolf Hitler took power in Germany. Both countries were struggling with economic disasters, but the two leaders had very different solutions to the problem. Hitler put Germany back to work on a program of militarization that would ostensibly restore the country’s lost honor while hiding his true aims of world domination and genocide. FDR came up with one plan after another to restart America’s stagnant economy within a democratic framework. In 1933, national defense was the least of Roosevelt’s concerns.

One of the new president’s first projects was the creation of the Civilian Conservation Corps, or CCC. The program put unemployed young men to work in the country’s national parks and woodlands. In truth, while the participants did indeed plant trees and build lodges and roads, it was also an effort to feed three million boys who were coming close to starving, while providing a small wage they could send home to their impoverished families.

Somebody had to supervise this massive program. The military was Roosevelt’s obvious choice. Germany and the United States in 1933 were in much different places. While the future Luftwaffe, under the direction of former World War I pilot Hermann Goering, began its program of building new fighters and bombers and training pilots for war, America’s flyers were sent on a babysitting mission.18


In the first nine months of the creation of the CCC, more than 9,000 Army officers and enlisted men were assigned to look after these teenagers.19 “We were glorified housekeepers,”20 LeMay  recalled. He was second in command of a camp outside of Brethren, Michigan. Most of the Army staff was not pleased about this new assignment, especially LeMay.

But something happened in the middle of the Michigan wilderness. LeMay began to exhibit impressive leadership skills. He found it easy to quickly distinguish the responsible boys in the group from the delinquents. He developed an athletic program to deal with the constant fights that broke out. “It was a good way for them to work off a little steam,” he remembered.21 When fights did break out, LeMay turned them into a lesson. He called for boxing gloves, formed a ring with the others, and let the two miscreants go at each other. When it was over, LeMay appealed to the common sense of the group and asked the logical question, “This actually didn’t settle very much, did it?”

Eventually, the boys began to be drawn to LeMay. Though he had no training in this type of endeavor, it seemed to come naturally. He had their respect, and that was all it took. “In a few weeks they were coming along in damn good shape, and we were gratified.”22


LeMay was more than aware that he and the rest of the pilots were losing valuable flying time working in the camp. As soon as things were in order, he drove down to Selfridge and persuaded the commanding general to let him bring a plane up to the camp so the pilots could fly. Back in Brethren, he found a farmer who allowed them to use his field. Next, LeMay drew up a plan for the approaches and landings. Within no time, he flew up a P-12, but he also set down the rules. Every pilot had to bring the plane back with enough fuel to get back to Selfridge (about an hour and a half in flying time), and they had to make sure the cows were clear of the field so they could land and take off.

LeMay’s reprieve from the CCC came in the summer of 1933, when he received orders to report to Communications School at Chanute Field in Illinois. He could not wait to leave. But close to the end of his time in Michigan, he read in the local paper that a fire had burned down a hangar at Chanute Field—the same hangar that housed the Air Corps School of Communications. Already understanding the ins and outs of the military, he told no one and proceeded down to Selfridge where he was supposed to receive his new orders. Sure enough, waiting for him at Selfridge was the cancellation of this order, which had not been relayed to him at the CCC Camp. As his position in Brethren was already filled by someone else, according to schedule, he happily waited at Selfridge for new orders. Two weeks later he was told to report to Langley Field in Virginia for Navigation School. At last he was free of the babysitting detail.
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A UNIQUE TIME 

In the early 1930s, with no more technology available in a cockpit than a compass, it was very difficult for a pilot in the air to figure out how to get where he was going. Consequently, pilots simply followed railroad tracks and roads, just like the Wright plane that had flown over Curtis LeMay’s house twenty years earlier. If a plane drifted over water or ran into bad weather, it was dangerous. Since flying was still so new, navigation was not high on the priority list. In fact, there was no such category as navigator in the Air Corps—a man whose sole job was to help guide the pilot to his destination—because there was no room for another crewman in any of the planes of that era. Navigating was  completely up to the pilot; consequently the navigation school at Langley trained only pilots.

The Army Air Corps hired the leading authority in navigation at the time, an Australian named Harold Gatty, to teach pilots what he knew. Gatty believed celestial navigation—the system that sailors used—could also work for airplanes.23 However, it was a time-consuming method, taking up to forty minutes to compute. This was problematic in an airplane going over 100 miles per hour. The pilots took their “fixes” and then tried to factor speed, drag, and altitude into the equation. It was a complex mathematical problem, and it had to be done while flying a plane. “It was one of those situations where every time you recognize a problem you come up with a new puzzle,” LeMay remembered.24 But this was exactly the kind of problem that intrigued him.

LeMay was part of a completely new branch of the military, still in the process of inventing itself. Unlike the Navy or regular Army, which had centuries of tradition behind them, the men in the Air Corps were defining their service as they went along. They were not just solving the most basic problems of their craft, but creating their own language and myths that would be passed on to future fliers. The process was complicated, however, by how quickly technology was advancing. New planes were constantly getting larger and faster, and everyone was just trying to keep up with the speed of it all.

LeMay understood that he had entered the Air Corps at a very unique time. And he knew the men around him would be developing the rules. He felt a strong bond with them. In 1931, LeMay heard of a tremendous job opportunity outside the military. The Ford Motor Company was building the Ford Tri-Motor airplane.  In spite of the Depression, new passenger companies like Pan Am and TWA were expanding their routes throughout the country and beyond. Ford developed a package that sold its planes with a pilot, and LeMay was just the candidate they wanted.

On a day off, LeMay flew down to Detroit to look into it and was astounded when Ford offered him a job on the spot at the astronomical salary of $1,200 a month. At the time, he was earning a little over $200 in the Air Corps, which was considered a very good salary. He was torn. Though it was an extremely attractive prospect—a huge salary, as well as the freedom of civilian life, in which he could live and dress as he chose—he knew that he could have a huge impact on the new branch of the military if he stayed in. He also knew there was job uncertainty in the world outside the military. The shadow of his father always loomed over him. Even with the huge salary, there was always the chance that something could happen that might leave him in Erving LeMay’s recurring predicament.

After seriously thinking it over, he passed the job offer to another cadet in his class, who eventually became an airline executive. Later, he said he decided to stay because of the way Army officers were respected by the public. But advancement was frozen in the Air Corps—the best he could realistically hope for was retirement after thirty years at the rank of Lieutenant Colonel—and prospects of anything better in 1931 were dim. In addition to respect, job security and camaraderie enticed him to stay in the service.

Some people are drawn to the military because they crave the order that it imposes in their lives. But LeMay’s personality was infused with order and self-discipline. He did not need any external rules or artificial means to impose this code on his life.  LeMay’s reason for serving was simple patriotism. He had an abiding passion for his country, its history, and its laws. Ever since his childhood, he had felt a deep sense of protection towards those under him—first his younger siblings and later the men who flew with him. He felt this same responsibility to his country as well. And at this place and time, as the United States was just creating its air force, LeMay thought he could have a great impact in shaping the country’s future defense. Passing up a larger paycheck seemed like a small trade-off.
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